FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
12/15/2022 12:35 PM
No. 101544-5

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/15/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

DAKOTA MIKALLE COLLINS,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Court of Appeals No. 56155-7-II
Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
Superior Court Cause Number 16-1-02182-6
The Honorable Stephanie Arend, Judge

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Petitioner WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Dakota Mikalle Collins, Defendant and Appellant in the case below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division 2, case number 56155-7-II, which was filed on November 29, 2022. (Attached in Appendix) The Court of Appeals affirmed the conviction entered against Petitioner in the Pierce County Superior Court.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the resentencing court abuse its discretion when it failed to meaningfully and sufficiently weigh the characteristics of youth that must be considered when sentencing juveniles charged as adults?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Pierce County Prosecutor charged sixteenyear-old Dakota Mikalle Collins with one count of first degree felony murder for allegedly causing the death of Lorenzo Parks during an incident that occurred on the 17th or 18th of May, 2016. (CP 1-2) The State further alleged that the charged incident was committed with a firearm. (CP 1-2)

Dakota took responsibility for his actions and entered a guilty plea to an amended information charging one count of second degree murder while armed with a firearm, one count of attempted first degree robbery, and two counts of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm. (CP 5-7, 9-20; 09/15/17 RP 3-4)¹

When asked to state the factual basis to support the plea, Dakota wrote:

Between May 17th and 18th, I, Dakota Collins, did intentionally shoot Mr. Lorenzo Parks while my codefendants and I were attempting to take his property by force and

¹ The transcripts will be referred to by the date of the proceeding contained therein.

while Mr. Parks was resisting the taking of his property. The gun I used to shoot Mr. Parks was a real gun, and Mr. Parks died from the gunshot wound. I also should not have been in possession of the firearm because I had previously been convicted of a felony offense and a juvenile which prohibited me from having in my possession a firearm. I also had in my possession a firearm on June 16, 2016 when I was arrested for the offense related to Mr. Parks when my rights to possess a firearm had not been restored to me. All acts occurred in the State of Washington. My shooting of Mr. Parks was my intent to commit Assault 1.

(CP 18) After a lengthy colloquy, the trial court found that the plea was knowing, voluntary and intelligent, and it accepted Dakota's guilty plea. (09/15/17 RP 6-17)

The parties agreed that the prosecutor would recommend a standard range adult sentence totaling 260 months (21.6 years) of confinement, and that Dakota could ask the Court to impose a sentence of 66 months, which "is the equivalent of a Juvenile Life"

sentence (commitment until his age 21 (*sic.*))." (CP 13) At the sentencing hearing, Dakota asked the trial court to exercise its discretion and impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range based on Dakota's youth and other related mitigating factors. (10/05/17 RP 62-71)

In its sentencing memorandum, the defense summarized Dakota's difficult childhood and his struggle with behavioral disorders, and his amenability to treatment and rehabilitation:

According to CPS records, Dakota's biological mother, Venessa White, was serving her time at Echo Glen when she gave birth to Dakota Collins.... Venessa was 16-years-old....

While pregnant with Dakota and since age 13, Venessa had been taking controlled substances... Venessa's inadequate parenting skills could not cope with a drugexposed infant.... On July 3, 2001, the State filed dependency on Dakota and his younger brother.

. . . .

[A]fter two years of being in dependency and almost two years in foster care, Venessa

finally relinquished her parental rights. Dakota's biological father's parental rights were terminated on October 8, 2003.

[T]he effects of pre-natal drug abuse became evident even before Dakota turned 5 and even before he began attending school. He showed all the symptoms of a drug _ irritability, agitation, addicted baby hyperactivity, poor task organization and processing. As the studies have predicted, during second grade, Dakota was diagnosed with ADHD. It was evident to everyone, especially his adoptive parents and his teachers that Dakota was more emotionally reactive, anxious and depressed, even at that young age. Dakota needed medication and had to be closely monitored.

Ritalin, Adderall and Concerta, however, did not work for Dakota. All through grade school and into junior high and high school, Dakota continued to struggle. He was impulsive, reactive. hyperactive, showed undue aggression, was sensation seeking, he could not behave in school or at home, had clear emotional problems and poor social skills. His parents didn't know what to do with him. Multiple times he was suspended from school for misbehavior. Multiple times Dakota sought help from professionals and multiple times he failed. It was clear: not only did he suffer from attention deficit disorder, he also suffered from oppositional defiant disorder (ODD).

... [A]t age 12, Dakota was sent to the Southern Military Academy in Port St. Lucie,

Florida. But what should have been a positive, life-changing learning experience for Dakota turned into a nightmare.

Unbeknownst to his adoptive parents, the Military Academy had been investigated by the Department of Children and Families (DCF) for at least 30 allegations of abuse and neglect at the academy since 2000. types of abuses included asphyxiation, beatings, bizarre punishment, bruises/welts, cuts/punctures/bites, burns. excessive corporal punishment, sexual abuse, sexual exploitation. molestation. sexual inappropriate/excessive restraints. Unfortunately for Dakota, his parents did not listen to his cries to bring him home, ignored his repeated complaints of severe physical abuse, did not take seriously his reports of the types of punishment Dakota and others suffered at the hands of Colonel Weierman. It wasn't until [his adoptive mother] had a confrontation with Colonel Weierman [that] she realized how wrong she had been to not believe Dakota, how wrong she had been to ignore his cries for help. She agreed to bring Dakota home, but the damage was done. Dakota returned home even angrier than before.

What he suffered at the hands of Colonel Weierman and the other juveniles at the military school is more fully described in Dr. Gerlock's report. Suffice it to say, Dakota returned suffering from post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), desperately needing treatment and medication—neither of which

he received or attempted to receive. Instead, he took to the streets. He self-medicated on drugs and marijuana. He committed this crime—taking the life of Mr. Parks—high on drugs, with no control over his emotions, his thought processes and his reasoning abilities severely compromised. He saw Mr. Parks fighting with his friends/codefendants as he resisted their attempts to rob him. He heard his codefendants yell, "Shoot him! him!" As the incident unfolded. Dakota's PTSD became triggered, and he snapped. He fired the gun not thinking or considering the consequences of his act. At age 16, he killed Mr. Parks, and Dakota knows he will have to atone for this tragic mistake for the rest of his life.

...After his arrest on June 7, 2016, Dakota was sent to Remann Hall, a juvenile detention facility in Tacoma Washington. There, he received much needed mental health counseling from Catholic Community For the first time since returning Services. from Southern Military Academy, he was able to talk about what happened to him at the Academy. He began attending classes five days a week, Monday through Friday for 1 to 1 $\frac{1}{2}$ hours a day, and as he began understanding his own history, he began to grasp the pain he has caused to his adoptive parents, to the mother who bore him, and especially to the family of Mr. Lorenzo Parks. Through counseling, he began to understand his biological mother, forgive her, and find comfort in her love for him. What began as forced counseling became a source of reflection and reprieve.

(CP 30-34, 39-142) Psychologist April Ann Gerlock also testified that Dakota suffered from PTSD, and coupled with the normal underdeveloped functioning of his adolescent brain, Dakota's judgment and ability to consider consequences would have been impaired. (10/05/17 RP 46-47) These conditions would negatively impact how Dakota would respond and react during a stressful event. (10/05/17 RP 47)

The trial judge rejected Dakota's request and imposed a standard range sentence. (10/05/17 RP 78; CP 149) Dakota appealed to this Court, and argued that the trial court failed to fully and meaningfully consider his youth as a mitigating factor. Division 2 originally held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion and affirmed Dakota's sentence in an

unpublished opinion.² This Court subsequently granted Collins's petition for review and remanded for reconsideration in light of *State v. Delbosque*, which clarified that sentencing courts must fully and meaningfully consider on the record how the characteristics of youth may mitigate the culpability of a juvenile offender.³

On reconsideration, Division 2 reversed its prior holding regarding Dakota's sentence and remanded for the trial court to "reconsider [Dakota's] youth as a mitigating factor with the benefit of recent appellate decisions." *State v. Collins*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 1051 at *1 (2020).

At the resentencing hearing, the court reviewed the evidence presented at the original sentencing hearing,

² State v. Collins, 10 Wn. App. 2d, 1006 (2019).

³ State v. Delbosque, 195 Wn.2d 106, 456 P.3d 806 (2020).

and also received new evidence of Dakota's positive conduct and development over the previous five years. (08/10/21 RP 22-25, 29)

The resentencing court did not alter its originally imposed standard range sentence, and again imposed a term of confinement totaling 260 months in prison. (CP 324; 08/10/21 RP 49) The sentencing court summarized its decision as follows:

Reflecting back on the case law that was cited by the Court of Appeals and that I summarized today and this Court's review of all the evidence submitted by the State and the defense, I would say the following: The defendant in this case was closer to 17 than 16 at the time he killed Mr. Parks. The Court did not impose either a literal or a de facto life without [parole] sentence.... Mr. Collins, has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the crime that he committed reflected transient immaturity and that an exceptional sentence below the standard range is justified. I don't believe the defendant has met that burden and that he should be given an exceptional sentence downward.

The Court finds that the only appropriate sentence in this case is a standard-range

sentence, plus the firearm sentencing enhancement, plus community custody. And I stand by my prior sentence[.]

(08/10/21 RP 48-49). Dakota filed a timely Notice of Appeal. (CP 331) In a split decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed Dakota's sentence.

V. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

The issues raised by Dakota's petition should be addressed by this Court because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with settled case law of the Court of Appeals, this Court and of the United State's Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

The court abused its discretion at the resentencing hearing when it failed to properly consider each of the required mitigating factors of youth.

A. YOUTH IS A SUBSTANTIAL FACTOR WHICH MUST BE CONSIDERED WHEN SENTENCING JUVENILES IN ADULT COURT.

"A trial court lacks the discretion to impose a standard range sentence without first considering the

mitigating circumstances of youth where the defendant committed the crime as a juvenile." State v. Backstrom, 15 Wn. App. 2d 103, 106, 476 P.3d 201 (2020), review denied, 198 Wn.2d 1032, 501 P.3d 130 (2022) (citing In re Pers. Restraint of Ali, 196 Wn.2d 220, 231-33, 474 P.3d 507 (2020)). That is because courts have come to the realization that children are different from adults and must be treated differently within the criminal justice system. See Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460, 480, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012); Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 68-74, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2010); Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 569-75, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 161 L. Ed. 2d 1 (2005); State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 18-26, 391 P.3d 409 (2017). Children are less blameworthy because they are less capable of making reasoned decisions. *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2464.

Thus, a sentencing court must consider a juvenile

offender's "youth and attendant characteristics" before determining the penalty, and not simply examine their acts during the incident. *Miller*, 132 S. Ct. at 2471. The judge must "meaningfully consider youth as a possible mitigating circumstance." *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 696, 358 P.3d 359 (2015).

The Houston-Sconiers court requires consideration of three factors when sentencing any juvenile: (1) the mitigating circumstances of youth, including the juvenile's "immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences;" (2) the juvenile's environment and family circumstances, their participation in the crime, and the possible effects of familial and peer pressure; and (3) how youth impacted any legal defense, as well as any factors suggesting that the child might be rehabilitated. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d at 23 (quoting Miller, 567 U.S. at 477).

In State v. Delbosque, 195 Wn.2d 106, 456 P.3d

806 (2020), the Court reiterated that a sentencing court should not focus on the defendant's behavior before or during the crime. Resentencing courts must *meaningfully* consider how juveniles are different from adults. Wn.2d at 119-20. The court must *meaningfully* consider how those differences apply to the facts of the case. 195 Wn.2d at 119-20. And it must meaningfully consider whether the facts of the case present the uncommon situation where a juvenile homicide offender is incapable of rehabilitation. 195 Wn.2d at 119-20. This requires the resentencing court to do "far more than simply recite the differences between juveniles and adults and make conclusory statements that the offender has not shown an exceptional downward sentence is justified." 195 Wn.2d at 121 (emphasis added) (quoting State v. Ramos, 187 Wn.2d 420, 443, 387 P.3d 650 (2017)).

After reconsideration in Dakota's first appeal,

Division 2 concluded that the trial court "failed to fully and

meaningfully consider [Dakota's] youth as a mitigating factor during sentencing, as required by *Houston-Sconiers* and now guided by *Delbosque*." *Collins*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 1051 at *9 (2020).

Even though the resentencing court barely attempted to correct the errors noted by Division 2 in its first unpublished opinion, on its second review a majority of the panel found that the trial court's consideration was adequate. (Opinion at 15-18) The majority found that the resentencing court "very clearly considered the evidence submitted by Collins to establish youth as a mitigating factor, and determined that Collins had not proven by a preponderance of the evidence that his youth justified a mitigated sentence. (Opinion at 17)

The majority was incorrect. Instead, as the dissent notes, "[w]hile the trial court gave lip service to the factors, in several instances, the trial court's findings are not supported by substantial evidence in the record, the

trial court effectively ignored a factor, or the court simply declined to give a factor any consideration at all." (Opinion at 20) On remand, the resentencing court repeated the mistakes it made in the first sentencing hearing, and once again Dakota is entitled to a resentencing hearing where the sentencing judge must conduct a proper, meaningful, and individualized consideration of the mitigating qualities of youth as they pertain to Dakota.

B. THE RESENTENCING COURT FAILED TO SUFFICIENTLY CONSIDER DAKOTA'S AGE AND LACK OF MATURITY AT THE TIME OF THE OFFENSE.

The sentencing court must meaningfully consider "age and its 'hallmark features,' such as the juvenile's 'immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks and consequences." *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d at 23 (quoting *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 477). Scientists have "establish[ed] a clear connection between youth and decreased moral culpability for criminal conduct," and

courts must take this into consideration at sentencing. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d at 695.

In its first unpublished opinion, Division 2 found that the trial court "failed to fully and meaningfully consider the influence of age and its hallmark features, as well as the effects of Collins's PTSD diagnosis, when it focused on the irrelevance of [Dakota's] 18th birthday as a turning point and failed to adequately address expert testimony." *Collins*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 1051 at *7.

First, this Court noted that Dakota "did not commit this crime at all close in time to his 18th birthday—he was 16 years old" and therefore "the scientific advancements in understanding youthfulness apply 'with magnified force." *Collins*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 1051 at *6 (quoting *State v. Solis-Diaz*, 194 Wn. App. 129, 138, 376 P.3d 458 (2016)).⁴ At resentencing, the judge disagreed, stating

⁴ Reversed on other grounds in *State v. Solis-Diaz*, 187 Wn.2d 535, 387 P.3d 703 (2017).

"[b]y my calculation, his age at the date of this offense was 16 years, 6 months and 25 days. I would consider that close in time to his 18th birthday." (08/10/21 RP 41)

Next, in its first unpublished opinion, Division 2 found that the trial court improperly recharacterized the testimony of the defense expert, Dr. Gerlock, and failed to "meaningfully consider her actual testimony." *Collins*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 1051 at *6-*7.

At Collins's first sentencing hearing, Dr. Gerlock testified that adolescent brains are less developed in the prefrontal cortex, the area responsible for exercising judgment and understanding consequences, and that the prefrontal cortex is "not as active for someone with PTSD." (10/05/17 RP at 47) She also testified that PTSD causes "the part of the brain that stores fear-based memories" to become "more reactive." (10/05/17 RP at 46-47) Dr. Gerlock explained that Dakota's adolescence and PTSD "together really compounded his situation in

terms of how he perceived the events as they unfolded that night, perceived the situation as threatening, and responded in that reactive impulsive way with lethal violence." (10/05/17 RP at 47)

In its oral ruling at the first sentencing hearing, the trial court described Dr. Gerlock's testimony as describing what Collins "may have been experiencing." (10/05/17 RP at 74, emphasis added). Division 2 found this "recharacterization" of the testimony improper, noting that "though the trial court does not have to agree with Dr. Gerlock's conclusions, it still must meaningfully consider her actual testimony." *Collins*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 1051 at *7.

At the resentencing hearing, the judge again disagreed with Division 2's findings, stating:

I do take issue with the holding that I recharacterized the testimony of Dr. Gerlock when I spoke about what Mr. Collins, quote, "May have been experiencing," closed quote, the night of the crime. I said that I don't know and I don't think Dr. Gerlock knows what he was experiencing.... So I stand by my prior

statements as a correct characterization of Dr. Gerlock's testimony.

(08/10/21 RP 42-43) Once again, the resentencing court improperly focused on the idea that Dr. Gerlock's testimony only provided information about what Dakota may have or could have been experiencing, and on her inability to read his mind in that moment. The judge then complained that:

Dr. Gerlock did not speak to the credibility of what Mr. Collins reported. What would have caused the emotional flashback to cause Mr. Collins to feel intense fear and anger? He and six others placed themselves in that situation. They outnumbered Mr. Parks. Mr. Collins was the only person holding a loaded gun, or, to my knowledge, a weapon of any kind. What was the threat? Especially when the robbery was over and Mr. Parks had walked away. What was the ongoing threat Collins that would cause Mr. to impulsively? An underdeveloped adolescent brain and PTSD do not explain this to me.

(08/10/21 RP 43-44)

This is not a meaningful consideration of how Dakota's youth and mental conditions may have

influenced his actions. The resentencing court simply could not understand why Dakota would have behaved in such a manner. But instead of trying to understand whether Dakota's PTSD, coupled with the "signature qualities of youth" such as "impetuousness and recklessness" lead him to behave as he did, the sentencing court focused on Dakota's acts during the incident. The resentencing court once again failed to meaningfully consider Dr. Gerlock's actual testimony, or meaningfully consider how Dakota's youth and PTSD may impact his culpability.

C. THE RESENTENCING COURT DID NOT SUFFICIENTLY CONSIDER DAKOTA'S CHILDHOOD AND LIFE EXPERIENCE AND ITS EFFECT.

Under the second *Houston-Sconiers* factor, the sentencing court must consider "the nature of the juvenile's surrounding environment and family circumstances, the extent of the juvenile's participation in

⁵ *Roper*, 543 U.S. at 570.

the crime, and 'the way familial and peer pressures may have affected him." *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d at 23 (quoting *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 477). "[A] sentencing court's evaluation of a particular juvenile offender's circumstances must at least extend to an individualized assessment of [the] potential effects of youth." *Solis-Diaz*, 194 Wn. App. at 140.

At the first sentencing hearing, the court acknowledged Dakota's difficult childhood, and how "[i]t's very sad that you were exposed to drugs before you even had a chance at a life. It's very sad that you suffered at (10/05/17 RP 76) that academy." The trial court discussed how the victim's son also had difficulties in childhood but "he made different choices in his life, and so now he's at a university on a scholarship." (10/05/17) RP 72)

In its first unpublished opinion, Division 2 found that "the trial court did not consider how these circumstances affected Collins as an individual. The trial court instead discussed how a person's choices determine their fate, rather than their circumstances." *Collins*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 1051 at * 7. Division 2 found that "[i]n comparing [Dakota to the victim's] son, and in remarking on the general prevalence of prenatal drug abuse and child abuse in society, the trial court failed to engage in an individualized assessment of how [Dakota's] particular circumstances intersected with his youth and affected his culpability specifically." *Collins*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 1051 at *8.

Addressing this point at the resentencing hearing, the court again acknowledged that Dakota experienced traumatic events during his childhood (108/10/21 RP 30-31), but the resentencing court once again failed to assess how these experiences may have individually effected Dakota's culpability. And the court once again improperly compared Dakota's actions to others who suffered trauma, stating: "many people who experience

these same events, grow up to be productive members of society. The majority of them certainly do not grow up to kill others." (08/10/21 RP 46)

The resentencing court again failed to make an individualized assessment of how Dakota's particular circumstances, coupled with the classic traits of youth such as poor judgment and impetuousness, may have affected his decision making and behavior on the night of the robbery.

D. THE RESENTENCING COURT FAILED TO ADEQUATELY CONSIDER DAKOTA'S STRONG POTENTIAL FOR REHABILITATION.

The sentencing court must consider "any factors suggesting that the child might be successfully rehabilitated." *Houston-Sconiers*, 188 Wn.2d at 23 (citing *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 477). A sentencing court should not focus on the defendant's behavior before or during the crime. "[S]entencing courts 'must reorient the sentencing analysis to a forward-looking assessment of the

defendant's capacity for change or propensity for incorrigibility, rather than a backward-focused review of the defendant's criminal history." Delbosque, 195 Wn.2d at 122 (quoting *United States v. Briones*, 929 F.3d 1057, 1066 (9th Cir. 2019)). "The key question is whether the defendant is capable of change." Delbosque, 195 Wn.2d F.3d at 122 (quoting Briones, 929 at 1067). Resentencing courts must also meaningfully consider "the measure of rehabilitation that has occurred since a youth was originally sentenced[.]" Delbosque, 195 Wn.2d at 121; Ramos, 187 Wn.2d at 449.

At the first sentencing hearing, a counselor from Catholic Community Services testified that she had started working with Dakota prior to the crime and had been trying to get him "the most intensive services that the County could provide." (10/05/17 RP 50-51) Although Dakota was arrested before he could receive the benefit of these services, the counselor described him

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