FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/17/2023 2:36 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101544-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent/Cross-Petitioner

v.

DAKOTA MIKALLE COLLINS,

Petitioner/Cross-Respondent.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Stephanie Arend

No. 16-1-02182-6

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CROSS-PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

PAMELA B. LOGINSKY Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 18096 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-2913

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

VI. ARGUMENT

It is true that one sentencer may weigh Collins's youth differently than another sentencer or an appellate court would, given the mix of all the facts and circumstances in his case. Some sentencers may decide that Collins's youth supports a mitigated exceptional sentence. Other sentencers presented with the same facts might decide that a standard range sentence remains appropriate despite Collins's youth. But the key point remains that the legislature has expressly declared that Collins and similarly situated defendants are not entitled to repetitive appeals and resentencings until they ultimately obtain an exceptional sentence below the standard range.

This Court should grant the State's cross-petition for review and issue an opinion that holds an appellate court may only review a standard range sentence imposed on a "juvenile defendant" when the trial court totally fails to consider the

³ The phrase "juvenile defendant" refers to persons who were tried in adult court for offenses committed prior to their eighteenth birthday, rather than offenders who were adjudicated

mitigating factors of youth or fails to appreciate the discretion to impose a sentence below the SRA range. The trial court's assessment of credibility, other factual findings, and balancing of the facts of the crime and defendant's youth are not grounds for review.

The Court should deny Collins's petition for review as the trial court's determination that Collins failed to meet his burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that his youth impacted his commission of the murder of Mr. Parks is unchallenged. *See* 4RP 48.

A. A Standard Range Sentence Imposed Upon a Juvenile Defendant is Not an Exceptional Sentence Upward.

When sentencing a juvenile defendant, the trial court retains its discretion to impose a standard range sentence and is entitled to start with a general presumption that a standard range sentence is appropriate. *State v. Gregg*, 196 Wn.2d 473, 486, 474 P.3d 539 (2020). This is because "age is not a per se mitigating

in the juvenile courts.

factor automatically entitling every youthful defendant to an exceptional sentence." *State v. O'Dell*, 183 Wn.2d 680, 695, 358 P.3d 359 (2015); *State v. Ramos*, 187 Wash.2d 420, 434, 387 P.3d 650 (2017) (youth is not a per se mitigating factor, even for juvenile defendants). The standard range provisions of the SRA apply until the sentencing court determines that youth has been established as a mitigating factor as to the specific crime. *State v. Rogers*, 17 Wn. App. 2d 466, 476, 487 P.3d 177 (2021).

The burden of proving youth as a mitigating factor lies with the defendant. RCW 9.94A.535; *Gregg*, 196 Wn.2d at 478; *Ramos*, 187 Wn.2d at 433; *accord Jones v. Mississippi*, ____ U.S. ____,141 S. Ct. 1307, 209 L. Ed. 2d 390 (2021). Only when a youthful defendant satisfies his burden and the standard range sentence amounts to a de facto sentence of life without parole is a trial court *required* to impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range. *Ramos*, 187 Wn.2d at 442-43. In cases with lesser sentences, the trial court *may* but is not *required* to impose a mitigated exceptional sentence.

In the instant case Collins tried, but failed, to establish that his life circumstances, and youthfulness significantly impaired his capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct when he murdered Mr. Parks, or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d at 698-99; RCW 9.94A.535(1)(e); 4RP 48. His current standard range sentence of 260 months did not become an appealable exceptional sentence upward merely because it was imposed on a juvenile defendant. State v. Anderson, 200 Wn.2d 266, 285, 516 P.3d 1213 (2022); Gregg, 196 Wn.2d at 482-83; State v. Rogers, 17 Wn. App. 2d 466, 472, 487 P.3d 177, 181 (2021). Neither in the court of appeals nor in this Court has Collins challenged the finding that he failed to demonstrate a link between his youth and his crime. The absence of such a link prevents Collins's petition from satisfying any of the RAP 13.4(b) considerations for review.

B. Collins's Appeal from His Standard Range Sentence Was Barred by RCW 9.94A.585(1)

Collins appealed his 260-month standard range sentence.

He did not contend that the trial court was unaware that the

mitigating circumstances associated with youth can support an exceptional sentence below the standard range. He did not claim that the trial court prevented him from offering any evidence regarding the mitigating circumstances of youth and how they may have impacted him at the time of the crime. He did not claim that he received a de facto life without parole sentence. Instead, Collins challenged the weight the trial court gave to his evidence and arguments. Disagreement with how the trial court exercised its discretion by denying a mitigated sentence is not, however, an exception to the prohibition upon appeals from standard range sentences.

The court of appeals' contrary holding conflicts with cases issued by both this Court and published opinions of the court of appeals. The holding also involves issues of substantial public interest—appellate and trial court resources and respect for the legislature's preeminence in establishing sentencing regimes.

See, e.g., In re Pers. Restraint of Forcha-Williams, ___ Wn.2d ___, 520 P.3d 939, 946 (2022) (judiciary may only encroach on

the legislature's plenary authority to set criminal punishment when the chosen procedure violates the federal or state constitution).⁴ Review of the issue raised in the State's crosspetition is warranted by RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

Under the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA), a defendant generally may not appeal a standard range sentence. RCW 9.94A.585(1) ("A sentence within the standard sentence range for the offense shall not be appealed."). "This precept arises from the notion that, so long as the sentence falls within the proper presumptive sentencing ranges set by the legislature, there can be no abuse of discretion as a matter of law as to the sentence's length." *State v. Williams*, 149 Wn.2d 143, 146-47, 65 P.3d 1214 (2003). This prohibition does not bar a party's right to challenge the underlying legal conclusions and determinations by which a

_

⁴ Collins has presented no argument that RCW 9.94A.585(1) is either facially unconstitutional or unconstitutional as applied to him.

court comes to apply a particular sentencing provision. *Id.* at 147.

A defendant whose request for an exceptional mitigated sentence is denied may only obtain review of the denial under two grounds. These two grounds mirror the procedural aspects announced in *Houston-Sconiers*. *See generally Forcha-Williams*, 520 P.3d at 949 (failing to consider the mitigating factors of youth or failing to appreciate the discretion to impose a sentence below the SRA range).

First, the defendant may obtain review if the trial court erroneously believed that it lacked the authority to depart from the standard range. *See, e.g., State v. McFarland*, 189 Wn.2d 47, 56, 399 P.3d 1106 (2017). This exception to RCW 9.94A.535(1) was present in the youth-related cases of *Houston-Sconiers*, ⁵

_

⁵ In *Houston-Sconiers*, this Court noted that the trial court believed it lacked the ability to impose a mitigated sentence with respect to the multiple firearm sentence enhancements. 188 Wn.2d at 20-21.

O'Dell, and State v. Ronquillo, 190 Wn. App. 765, 773-74, 361 P.3d 779 (2015), and in other non-youth related cases. e.g., State v. Graham, 181 Wn.2d 878, 881, 337 P.3d 319 (2014)

⁶ In *O'Dell*, this Court found that:

[T]he trial court did not meaningfully consider youth as a possible mitigating circumstance. As detailed above, the trial court clearly believed that the Court of Appeals' decision in Ha'mim absolutely prohibited it from considering whether youth diminished O'Dell's capacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of his conduct or conform that conduct to the requirements of the law. See VRP (Mar. 6, 2013) at 74–75 ("a defendant's incapacity to appreciate the wrongfulness of the criminal conduct cannot be based on the youthfulness of the Defendant ..." (emphasis added)).

This failure to exercise discretion is itself an abuse of discretion subject to reversal. State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 342, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005) (the trial court's failure to consider an exceptional sentence authorized by statute is reversible error).

183 Wn.2d at 696-97 (footnote omitted).

⁷ Sentencing court determined that it was constrained by the law to deny the defendant's request for an exceptional sentence based upon youth or the "clearly excessive" nature of the sentence. Ronguillo, 190 Wn. App. at 773-74.

(judge stated on the record there was no authority to impose an exceptional sentence).

Second, a defendant may appeal a discretionary sentence within the standard range where the court has refused to hear or consider the proffered evidence or refuses to ever impose a mitigated sentence for certain offenses or offenders. See, e.g., McFarland, 189 at 56; State v. Garcia-Martinez, 88 Wn. App. 322, 330, 944 P.2d 1104 (1997). Where a trial court has considered the facts and has concluded that the facts do not justify an exceptional sentence in a specific case, the defendant may not appeal that ruling. State v. Mandefero, 14 Wn. App. 2d 825, 833, 473 P.3d 1239 (2020) (quoting Garcia-Martinez, 88 Wn. App. at 330); State v. Khanteechit, 101 Wn. App. 137, 5 P.3d 137 (2000) (criticisms regarding the judgment the trial court exercised in imposing a standard range sentence are not a proper subject for appeal).

This rule applies equally to the rejection of youth-based claims as to other grounds for a mitigated exceptional sentence.

Mandefero, 14 Wn. App. 2d at 833-34. Only when a judge refuses to hear or consider any evidence regarding the mitigating circumstances of youth may a defendant appeal from a standard range sentence. See, e.g., In re Pers. Restraint of Kennedy, 200 Wn.2d 1, 20 n. 4, 513 P.3d 769 (2022). The weight to which the judge ascribes to such evidence, however, will only support an appeal in non-SRA cases. See generally State v. Delbosque, 195 Wn.2d 106, 456 P.3d 806 (2020) (setting of minimum term pursuant to RCW 10.95.030). Even in non-SRA cases, an appellate court does not reweigh the evidence on appeal. State v. Backstrom, 15 Wn. App. 2d 103, 109, 476 P.3d 201 (2020), rev. denied, 198 Wn.2d 1032 (2022) (RCW 10.95 aggravated murder case).

Here, the record establishes that the trial court understood it possessed the authority to consider the mitigating circumstances of youth in fashioning an appropriate sentence for Collins. 2RP 74-77; 4 RP 34. The sentencing judge acknowledged that her power to impose an exceptional sentence

based upon Collins's youth at the time of the crime was not diminished or otherwise impacted by the State's consideration of youth in its plea offer. 2RP 74-75.

The trial court placed no limitations upon the evidence Collins could offer in support of his request for an exceptional sentence below the standard range. The trial court considered Collins's tendered evidence, the *Houston-Sconiers* factors, numerous youth sentencing cases, the facts of the crime, and the purposes of the SRA as set out in RCW 9.94A.010. *See* 4RP 35-49; 2RP 76-78. The trial court acknowledged that peer pressure played some part in the commission of the murder but that the peer pressure alone did not present a substantial and compelling basis for a sentence below the standard range. 4RP 46, 48-49. Its decision to ultimately impose a 260 month standard range sentence was not appealable. *Mandefero*, 14 Wn. App. 2d at 834.

VII. CONCLUSION

The court of appeals' denial of the State's request to dismiss Collins's second appeal of his standard range sentence

pursuant to RCW 9.94A.535(1), if emulated, will divert limited appellate and trial court resources to sentences that the legislature has determined are presumptively reasonable. This Court should deny Collins's petition for review and should grant the State's cross-petition for review.

This document contains 3,377 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.